45141-7

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Feb 22, 2013, 4:16 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 87745-9

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Thurston County Superior Court No. 11-2-01925-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KENT L. and LINDA DAVIS; JEFFREY and SUSAN TRININ; and SUSAN MAYER, derivatively on behalf of OLYMPIA FOOD COOPERATIVE,

Petitioners/Plaintiffs Below,

V

GRACE COX; ROCHELLE GAUSE; ERIN GENIA; T.J. JOHNSON; JAYNE KASZYNSKI; JACKIE KRZYZEK; JESSICAN LAING; RON LAVIGNE; HARRY LEVINE; ERIC MAPES; JOHN NASON; JOHN REGAN; ROB RICHARDS; SUZANNE SHAFER; JULIA SOKOLOFF; and JOELLEN REINECK WILHELM,

Respondents/Defendants Below.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

I. INTRODUCTION

Appellants, five members of the Olympia Food Cooperative (the "Co-op"), filed a derivative suit challenging the Co-op's Board of Directors' (the "Board" or "Respondents") failure to abide by the Co-op's procedures when it enacted a boycott of products from the State of Israel. Respondents filed a special motion to strike under RCW 4.24.525, the Washington Act Limiting Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation (the "anti-SLAPP Act"). Contrary to established law, the trial court rejected Appellants' evidence in favor of Respondents. It then granted Respondents' motion, denied Appellants' cross-motion for discovery, and ordered the Co-op's representative plaintiffs, i.e., Appellants, to pay Respondents \$160,000 in penalties and \$61,846.75 in fees and costs.

Respondents achieved this result by portraying their corporate malfeasance as "speech" subject to the anti-SLAPP Act. But a failure to abide by corporate rules is not constitutionally protected speech, and the anti-SLAPP Act is unconstitutional as applied and on its face. The conduct underlying Appellants' claims does not involve the "heartland' of First Amendment activities" protected by the anti-SLAPP Act. And, Washington's anti-SLAPP Act violates the separation of powers doctrine, imposes unconstitutional limits on the rights of access to the courts and

¹ The statute is reproduced in its entirety in the Appendix.

² Jones v. City of Yakima Police Dept., 2012 WL 1899228, at *3 (E.D. Wash. May 24, 2012).

trial by jury, and is unconstitutionally vague. The misuse of anti-SLAPP provisions such as occurred here serves to chill free speech—not promote it. Appellants respectfully ask that the trial court's orders be reversed, the case be remanded with a direction that it proceed on the merits, and that Appellants be awarded their fees.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error 1: The trial court erred in applying the anti-SLAPP Act to this action, granting Respondents' Special Motion to Strike, and in entering Special Motion Order Findings of Fact ("FOF") 4-8.³

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- a. Is it error to grant a Special Motion to Strike absent a showing that the gravamen of a complaint alleging procedural violations by a board of directors is based on protected speech, and when there is substantial evidence the board members acted unlawfully?
- b. Does a trial court granting a Special Motion to Strike commit reversible error when it weighs the evidence and draws inferences in the moving party's favor?

Assignment of Error 2: The trial court erred in concluding that Washington's anti-SLAPP statute is constitutional.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- a. Is Washington's uniquely onerous anti-SLAPP Act unconstitutional on its face because its procedural hurdles conflict with court rules in violation of the separation of powers doctrine and deprive litigants of their constitutional rights of access to the court and trial by jury, and because the statute is unconstitutionally vague?
- b. As applied, is the anti-SLAPP Act unconstitutional because it deprived Appellants of their right of access to the courts?

³ The challenged FOFs are reproduced in the Appendix.

Assignment of Error 3: The trial court erred in denying

Appellants' Cross-Motion for Discovery, entering Discovery Order FOF

1, and refusing to reconsider its discovery denial upon receipt of evidence that Respondents had substantial documents in their possession.

Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error
Where a statute allows specified discovery upon a showing of good cause and the party seeking discovery meets that burden, and where the opponent later admits there are many thousands of pages of relevant documents in its exclusive possession, is it error for the trial court to deny any opportunity for discovery?

Assignment of Error 4: The trial court erred in striking as hearsay, certain statements made by Tibor Breuer and Susan Trinin.

Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error
Where, based on personal knowledge, former board members
testify about the purpose and intent of a policy they adopted, is it
error to strike their testimony on hearsay grounds and to do so
without any specific objection having been made?

Assignment of Error 5: The trial court erred in awarding \$10,000 in statutory penalties for each Respondent board member, in awarding attorney fees without finding Appellants' suit lacked reasonable cause, and in making the representative plaintiffs individually liable for the awards.

Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error

When representative plaintiffs make derivative claims based solely on collective action by a Board of Directors, is it error to give the fee and penalty provisions of the anti-SLAPP Act precedence over the derivative action statutes; and to award penalties for each board member defendant despite the action having been brought against the board as a whole?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Legal Framework

A SLAPP suit is a baseless lawsuit "brought primarily to chill the valid exercise of the constitutional rights of freedom of speech and petition for the redress of grievances." CP 277. Anti-SLAPP statutes allow a defendant to file a special motion to dismiss a SLAPP suit. A party filing an anti-SLAPP motion in Washington must show "by a preponderance of the evidence that the claim is based on an action involving public participation and petition." RCW 4.24.525(4)(b). If the movant meets its burden, "the burden shifts to the responding party to establish by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim." *Id.* In most circumstances, the responding party must meet this burden without the benefit of discovery. RCW 4.24.525(5)(c).

Courts apply anti-SLAPP laws cautiously because the extraordinary remedy they create deprives litigants of access to the judicial system and chills the constitutional right to petition. *E.g., Palazzo v. Alves,* 944 A.2d 144, 150 & nn.10-11. Courts ruling on anti-SLAPP motions therefore must accept as true all evidence favoring the non-moving party, and must not weigh credibility or compare the weight of the evidence. *Fielder v. Sterling Park Homeowners Ass'n,* 2012 WL 6114839, at *9 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 10, 2012); *Sycamore Ridge, Apts. LLC v. Naumann,* 157 Cal. App. 4th 1385, 69 Cal. Rptr. 3d 561, 571 (2007).

⁴ E.g., Jones, 2012 WL 1899228, at *2.

At issue in this appeal is the constitutionality of RCW 4.24.525 as applied and on its face, the trial court's treatment of the evidence, and its findings as to the parties' satisfaction of their evidentiary burdens. The evidence before the trial court is summarized below.

B. Background and Procedural Facts

The Co-op bills itself as a "collectively managed, not-for-profit cooperative organization that relies on consensus decision making." CP 56. In May 1993, the Co-op's Board adopted a policy establishing the procedure by which the Co-op would recognize product boycotts (the "Boycott Policy" or "Policy"). CP 106-07. The Policy provides:

BOYCOTT POLICY

Whenever possible, the Olympia Food Co-op will *honor* nationally recognized boycotts which are called for reasons that are compatible with our goals and mission statement...

In the event that we decide not to honor a boycott, we will make an effort to publicize the issues surrounding the boycott ... to allow our members to make the most educated decisions possible.

A request to honor a boycott ... will be referred ... to determine which products and departments are affected.... The [affected] department manager will make a written recommendation to the staff who will decide by consensus whether or not to honor a boycott....

The department manager will post a sign informing customers of the staff's decision ... regarding the boycott. If the staff decides to honor a boycott, the M.C. will notify the boycotted company or body of our decision ...

CP 106 (emphasis added). Under the Policy's plain language, the Co-op

can honor a boycott only if two tests are met: (1) there is an existing nationally recognized boycott; and (2) Co-op staff approve the boycott proposal by consensus (i.e., universal agreement). *Id.*

In July 2010, the Co-op's Board disregarded the Boycott Policy and adopted a resolution approving a boycott of Israeli-made products and divestment from Israeli companies (the "Boycott"). CP 121-23. As Respondents admit and the trial court found, the Board did so despite a lack of staff consensus. CP 252, 986. Moreover, and as the court also found, there was no nationally recognized boycott. CP 347-52, 990. The Boycott divided the Co-op community and caused members to cancel their memberships or shop elsewhere. CP 221, 298, 337, 355, 358, 372, 376, 833.

Appellants are long-time Co-op members and volunteers. CP 7, 296-97, 353-54, 356, 371-72, 374-75. One, Ms. Trinin, is a former Board President. CP 296-97. In September 2011, Appellants filed a verified derivative complaint asserting on behalf of the Co-op that because the Boycott was enacted in a way that violated Co-op rules and procedures, it was void and unenforceable. CP 6-18. The complaint also alleged that the Board members violated fiduciary duties owed to the entity. *Id.*Appellants primarily sought declaratory and injunctive relief. *Id.*

Respondents countered with a motion to dismiss under RCW 4.24.525 or Rule 12.⁵ CP 245-74. Appellants responded and cross-moved

⁵ Respondents' CR 12 motion argued that Appellants lacked standing to bring a derivative action. CP 258-67. The trial court rejected that argument. CP

for relief from the automatic discovery stay imposed by RCW 4.24.525(5)(c). CP 310-35, 362-66. The trial court granted Respondents' motion, denied Appellants', and ordered the individual members suing on the Co-op's behalf to pay a \$10,000 penalty to each Respondent and pay Respondents' reasonable litigation expenses. CP 1238-42, 1246-61.

C. Respondents Failed to Establish That This Action Involves Protected Speech

To obtain relief under the anti-SLAPP Act, Respondents had to show that this suit "involve[s] public participation and petition," a phrase that refers primarily to matters presented to government entities, but also to "lawful conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of free speech in connection with an issue of public concern[.]" RCW 4.24.525(2)(e), (4)(b) (emphasis added). Respondents argued that because boycotts are a form of protected speech, so too is an entity's compliance with (or circumvention of) internal rules governing how to effectuate a boycott. CP 255-56, 407-08; 2/23 RP 24-25. Respondents cited no authority supporting that position, *id.*; and so far as Appellants are aware, none exists. As Appellants argued, and Respondents conceded, this matter concerns violation of corporate procedural requirements, not the carefully restricted right to boycott. 6 CP 270, 317.

^{1251;} see CP 975. Respondents also made conclusory footnoted references to CR 12(b)(6), but offered no supporting argument for dismissal. CP 251, 267.

⁶ Boycotts have a checkered history of improper and illegal uses such as, for example, anti-integration boycotts in the South during the 1960s. Consequently, the right to boycott is subject to many restrictions—including prohibitions against boycotts based on race, religion, or national origin, and

The trial court found that Respondents met their burden, but did so without addressing whether a dispute about the failure to comply with boycott approval procedures involves constitutionally protected speech. CP 982-84. Instead, the court relied on the fact that the *subject* of the boycott is a matter of public concern. Id. It noted that "[f]our decades of conflict in the Middle East...surround the purposes behind this proposed Boycott," and the Palestinian-Israeli conflict is "a matter of public concern in America and debate about America's role in resolving that conflict." CP 983. The court then found that "Defendants have shown by a preponderance of the evidence that [Appellants'] claim is based on 'an action involving public participation and petition'...specifically, '[a]ny other lawful conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of free speech in connection with an issue of public concern." CP 1239. In effect, the court ruled that an entity's board has unfettered power to disregard the entity's rules and procedures if the matter underlying the procedural violation involves constitutionally protected speech.

D. Respondents Failed to Establish the Lawfulness of Their Alleged "Speech"

Under RCW 4.25.425(2)(e) and (4)(b), it was also Respondents' burden to establish their alleged "speech" was "lawful," i.e., that their acts complied with all relevant Co-op policies and procedures.⁷ If

certain country-specific boycotts fostered by foreign nations. E.g., 50 App. U.S.C. § 2407; Cal. Civ. Code § 51.5; RCW 49.60.030(1)(f).

⁷ Because RCW 4.24.525(4)(b) requires a movant to show "by a preponderance of the evidence that the claim is based on an action involving

Respondents did so, the burden shifted to Appellants to counter that showing. *Id.* The trial court, however, relieved Respondents of their burden and instead required Appellants to establish that Respondents' "conduct in enacting the resolution was not lawful." CP 984. The court found that Appellants failed to meet that burden with "clear and convincing evidence [of] a probability of prevailing on their claims." CP 1239. It did so by improperly rewriting the Co-op's Boycott Policy, weighing the evidence before it, and drawing inferences in Respondents' favor. *See* CP 988 (court's statement about "weighing evidence").

1. The Boycott Was Unlawfully Adopted Without the Requisite Staff Consensus

The Boycott Policy says it is the "staff who will decide by consensus whether...to honor a boycott." CP 106. The trial court recognized that "[i]t is undisputed that there was no consensus among the staff in addressing this Boycott...Resolution." CP 986. Under the Boycott Policy, that should have been dispositive. But the trial court instead viewed the staff consensus element of the Boycott Policy to be irrelevant. It did so based on Respondents' claim that a Bylaw allowing the Board to "resolve organizational conflicts after all other avenues of resolution have been exhausted," empowered the Board to override the staff consensus requirement. CP 987-89; see CP 58 ¶ 13(16). Because

public participation and petition"; and RCW 4.24.525(2)(e) defines an such an action as "[a]ny other lawful conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of free speech in connection with an issue of public concern," the initial burden of proving lawfulness is on the moving party.

Appellants did not provide "clear and convincing" evidence rebutting that claim, the court rejected Appellants' lack of consensus challenge. CP 989.

Respondents' claim the Board has an overriding power to resolve organizational conflicts lacked evidentiary support regarding the matters at issue here. The Board made no effort to demonstrate that it enacted the Boycott only after exhausting all other avenues of resolution. That, alone, rendered the Bylaw inapposite. Further, nothing in the Boycott Proposal or records from the meetings in which the Proposal was discussed indicates the Board was resorting to its so-called inherent powers. CP 109-24. To the contrary, those materials cite the need for staff consensus. *Id.* That indicates that even the Board did not believe the Bylaw applied. Moreover, while Respondents cited examples of the Board's prior use of its organizational conflict resolving power, those examples involved impasses over labor-related matters and operational issues; issues not subject to an express policy requiring staff consensus. *See* CP 41-43.

In short, nothing in the Policy or the Bylaws authorizes Board intervention if Staff cannot reach consensus on a proposed boycott. CP 58, 106. The only relevant Bylaw is one authorizing the Board to "adopt major policy changes," a provision that requires the Board to change existing policies it disagrees with, not simply ignore them. CP 58 ¶ 13(10); see 2/23 RP 37-38, 40. Recognizing this, Respondents spent over a year trying to amend the Boycott Policy after their controversial and divisive Boycott vote. CP 928 & n.3 (citing CP 837, 849, 862-63,

872, 884, 893-94, 902, 906). They were unable to do so. Id.

Respondents' overriding power claim is also belied by the fact that while there is no evidence of any prior Board enacting a boycott without staff consensus, there is substantial evidence demonstrating that the Board has in fact honored the Policy's requirements. A June 2010 report to Staff advised: "[t]he Boycott Process calls for boycotts to be approved by Staff consent." CP 116. Respondent Levine admits the Boycott Policy "establishes procedures for staff review and decision on boycott requests." CP 44 ¶ 19. Michael Lowsky, a 23-year Co-op member, 16-year employee, and participant in the staff discussions of and vote on the boycott proposal, testified that Co-op-honored boycotts are approved by staff consensus. CP 350-51. Even Respondents' documentary submissions confirm the staff consensus requirement. See CP 462 (1993 memo to staff re boycott and describing procedure "[i]f we all agree to this proposal"); CP 464 (1994 memo to staff re boycott states "proposal requires consensus of both staffs to be enacted at either store.")

Further, the evidence establishes that the principle of "consensus decision making" is at the heart of the Co-op's system of governance and applies at all levels of its operations. E.g., CP 53, 56 ¶ 2, 87, 106. By definition and in practice, "consensus" at the Co-op means (1) all persons empowered to decide on a particular proposal must assent in order for the proposal to pass; and (2) any one such person may "block" the proposal from passing. As a Board Member explained in 1992:

The Co-op staff collective uses a consensus-based decision-making process. No group decision is made until it has the support of all members of the collective. Any individual collective member may block consensus at any time. In fact, if an individual staff member cannot live with a decision that is about to be made, it is his/her responsibility to block consensus...

CP 307 (emphasis added).

In addition to Mr. Lowsky's declaration and the documentary evidence cited above, the evidence on the staff consensus requirement included declarations from two members of the 1993 Co-op Board: Susan Trinin and Tibor Breuer. CP 296-99, 336-38. Both testified that the Board's intent in adopting the Policy was that "authority to recognize boycotts would reside with the Co-op Staff—not the Board." CP 297 ¶ 3, 337 ¶ 4. The trial court struck that testimony, calling it "inadmissible as expressions of their subjective intents at the time the policy was enacted. As statements of the intent of the Board, they are inadmissible as hearsay." CP 988. It did not strike the other evidence detailed above.

Whether or not the Trinin and Breuer statements were admissible (and Appellants contend they were), other evidence established that until July 2010, boycotts were entered into only by staff consensus. In other words, the Co-op had remained true to its consensus decision-making model. The Board's unprecedented Boycott vote ignored the Boycott Policy's clear language, contravened the consensus model, caused conflict among Co-op staff and members, and was unlawful.

2. The Vote to Boycott Unlawfully Violated the Nationally Recognized Boycott Requirement

The Boycott Policy allows the Co-op to "honor nationally recognized boycotts." CP 106. As such, the Policy's clear intent is that the Co-op will be a boycott follower, not a leader. The undisputed evidence established that proposals to boycott and divest from Israel are nationally rejected—not nationally recognized. Mr. Lowsky testified that the proposed boycott was presented to Co-op staff as an opportunity to be the "first grocery store to publicly recognize a boycott and/or divestment from Israel." CP 351-52 ¶ 5 (emphasis added). Jon Haber, an experienced observer of efforts to boycott Israeli products, testified: "[n]o matter where they have been pursued, efforts to organize boycotts of and divestment from Israel have failed in the United States [and] have never been 'nationally recognized' in this country." CP 348 ¶ 5. Indeed, every food cooperative in the United States where such boycotts have been proposed has rejected them. *Id*. The same is true in other sectors:

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