45141-7

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
May 24, 2013, 4:40 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 87745-9
IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

KENT L. and LINDA DAVIS; JEFFREY and SUSAN TRININ; and
SUSAN MAYER, derivatively on behalf of OLYMPIA FOOD
COOPERATIVE,

Appellants/Plaintiffs Below,

v.

GRACE COX; ROCHELLE GAUSE; ERIN GENIA; T.J. JOHNSON;
JAYNE KASZYNSKI; JACKIE KRZYZEK; JESSICA LAING;
RON LAVIGNE; HARRY LEVINE; ERIC MAPES; JOHN NASON;
JOHN REGAN; ROB RICHARDS; SUZANNE SHAFER;
JULIA SOKOLOFF; and JOELLEN REINECK WILHELM,

Respondents/Defendants Below.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Bruce E.H. Johnson WSBA #7667
Sarah K. Duran, WSBA #38954

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

To prevent this, the statute allows the target of a SLAPP to bring a special motion to strike at the outset and imposes a high burden of proof on the responding party. RCW 4.24.525; *see also Aronson v. Dog Eat Dog Films, Inc.*, 738 F.Supp.2d 1104, 1109-10 (W.D.Wash. 2010); *Davis v. Avvo*, No. C11-1571 RSM, 2012 WL 1067640, at *2-3 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 28, 2012); *Castello v. City of Seattle*, No. C10-14 57 MJP, 2010 WL 4857022, at *3 (W.D. Wash. Nov. 22, 2010). If the plaintiff fails to meet this burden, the court must dismiss the claims and impose an award of attorneys’ fees, costs, and \$10,000 for each moving party. RCW 4.24.525(5)(c), (6)(a).

Courts decide anti-SLAPP motions in two steps. First, the defendant must show by a preponderance of the evidence “that the claim is based on an action involving public participation and petition.” RCW 4.24.525(4)(b); *see also Aronson*, 738 F. Supp. 2d at 1110; *Castello*, 2010 WL 4857022, at *6. “[P]ublic participation” includes any “lawful conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of free speech in connection with an issue of public concern, or in furtherance of the

exercise of the constitutional right of petition.” RCW 4.24.525(2)(e).
Second, the plaintiff must “establish by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim.” RCW 4.24.525(4)(b); *Aronson*, 738 F. Supp. 2d at 1110; *Castello*, 2010 WL 4857022, at *6. If the plaintiff does not, the court must dismiss the case. *Id.* The Legislature further mandated that the statute “be applied and construed liberally to effectuate its general purpose of protecting participants in public controversies from an abusive use of the courts.”⁶ S.B. 6395, 61st Leg., 2010 Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2010); *see also Aronson*, 738 F. Supp. 2d at 1110.

The trial court correctly applied RCW 4.24.525 to Appellants’ claims and dismissed their suit as an impermissible attempt to punish Respondents’ Boycott. The Boycott, it found, passed in the midst of the nearly century-old Israeli-Palestinian conflict, qualified as speech and lawful conduct in furtherance of a matter of public concern. CP 1107-08. Because Appellants failed to show by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on any of their claims, dismissal was proper.

⁶ Appellants claim the trial court contravened a “rule” requiring judicial caution in determining whether a suit is a SLAPP. Appellants’ Br. at 27. There is no such “rule.” Indeed, if there were, it would contravene the Legislature’s direction that courts construe the statute liberally. *See* S.B. 6395, 61st Leg., 2010 Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2010); *Aronson*, 738 F. Supp. 2d at 1110.

1. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled that Respondents' Boycott Qualified for Protection Under RCW 4.24.525.

The First Amendment unquestionably protects the Boycott. As the United States Supreme Court has recognized, the “right of the States to regulate economic activity could not justify a complete prohibition against a nonviolent, politically motivated boycott designed to force governmental and economic change and to effectuate rights guaranteed by the Constitution itself.” *NAACP v. Claiborne Hardware Co.*, 458 U.S. 886, 914-15, 102 S.Ct. 3409, 73 L.Ed.2d 1215 (1982). Thus, in *Claiborne Hardware*, the Court found “the nonviolent elements” of a boycott “are entitled to the protection of the First Amendment.” *Id.* at 915.

This is no accident. The United States itself is a product of a colonial boycott against British, Irish, and West Indian goods, issued by the First Continental Congress on October 20, 1774, in an effort to avoid war, persuade British lawmakers, and influence British public opinion. Cong. Journal, 1st Cont’l Cong., 1st Sess. (Oct. 20, 1774), reprinted in 1 *Journals of the Cont’l Congress* 75-81 (Worthington C. Ford et al. eds., 1903)); *see also* David Ammerman, *In the Common Cause: American Response to the Coercive Acts of 1774* (1974). Since then, the country has had a long tradition of boycotts, from pre-Civil War protests against slavery to the Montgomery bus boycott led by Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr.,

to the opposition to South African apartheid.

In light of this history and *Claiborne Hardware*, the Co-op's participation in the Boycott of Israeli goods indisputably qualifies as "action involving public participation and petition." See RCW 4.24.525(2). Boycotts fall within the "heartland" of First Amendment activities, contrary to Plaintiffs' assertions. Appellants' Br. at 7, n. 6. Moreover, the Boycott independently qualifies for anti-SLAPP protection as an act of petitioning. See, e.g., *N. Am. Expositions Co. Ltd. P'ship v. Corcoran*, 898 N.E.2d 831, 840-41 (Mass. 2009) (peaceful boycotts and demonstrations are protected petitioning activity under anti-SLAPP statute); *Wilcox v. Superior Court*, 27 Cal. App. 4th 809, 820-21, 33 Cal. Rptr. 2d 446 (1994), *rev'd on other grounds by Equilon Enters. v. Consumer Cause, Inc.*, 29 Cal. 4th 53, 124 Cal. Rptr. 2d 507, 52 P.3d 685 (2002) (anti-SLAPP statute protects expression including "peaceful economic boycott").

The Boycott unquestionably involves "an issue of public concern" – the protracted Israeli-Palestinian conflict. See RCW 4.24.525(2)(e); see also *Card v. Pipes*, 398 F. Supp. 2d 1126, 1136 (D. Or. 2004) (holding plaintiff's claims subject to an anti-SLAPP motion because defendant made anti-Israel comments "in connection with an interest of public concern"). Indeed, Appellants do not dispute that the Israeli-Palestinian

conflict is a matter of public concern. A matter is of public concern if it “relat[es] to any matter of political, social, or other concern to the community... or when it is a subject of legitimate news interest; that is, a subject of general interest and of value and concern to the public.”⁷

Snyder v. Phelps, 131 S. Ct. 1207, 1216, 179 L.Ed.2d 172 (2011) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). As the trial court correctly ruled: “Four decades of conflict in the Middle East have accompanied the issues that surround the purposes behind this proposed Boycott and Divestment Resolution. ... And for four decades, the matter has been a matter of public concern in America and debate about America’s role in resolving that conflict.” RP 14-24.

Appellants claim (for the first time on appeal⁸) that RCW 4.24.525(2)(e) only applies to “lawful” conduct, and that because their lawsuit is based on the Board’s failure to follow its own procedures, *not* protected conduct, RCW 4.24.525 is inapplicable. This argument reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of the anti-SLAPP law.

As an initial matter, Respondents’ conduct is lawful, and

⁷ Interpreting California’s anti-SLAPP statute, courts have found that an issue of public concern is “any issue *in which the public is interested*.” *Nygaard, Inc. v. Uusi-Kerttula*, 159 Cal. App. 4th 1027, 1042, 72 Cal. Rptr. 3d 210 (2008) (italics in original). “[T]he issue need not be ‘significant’ to be protected by the anti-SLAPP statute—it is enough that it is one in which the public takes an interest.” *Id.*; see, e.g., *Hilton v. Hallmark Cards*, 599 F.3d 894, 906 (9th Cir. 2010) (birthday card poking fun at Paris Hilton within scope of statute).

⁸ Appellants failed to raise this argument in the trial court, and thus waived it. See RAP 2.5(a); *Brundridge*, 164 Wn.2d at 441.

Appellants cite no authority suggesting that a private board's alleged failure to follow its own policies can strip speech of its First Amendment protections. Instead, the term "lawful" in Section 2(e) merely excludes the types of conduct that receive limited or no First Amendment protection, such as speech that is threatening, incites a breach of the peace, or advocates vandalism or destruction of property.⁹ To explain the difference succinctly with a pertinent example: peacefully demonstrating against the World Trade Organization (WTO) is protected; vandalizing Downtown Seattle storefronts to express opposition to the WTO is not.¹⁰

Appellants' argument, if accepted, would require judging the merits of a claim *before* applying the anti-SLAPP statute. But "a court must generally presume the validity of the claimed constitutional right in the first step of the anti-SLAPP analysis, and then permit the parties to address the issue in the second step of the analysis, if necessary." *Chavez v. Mendoza*, 94 Cal. App. 4th 1083, 1089, 114 Cal. Rptr. 2d 825 (2001). "Otherwise, the second step would become superfluous in almost every

⁹ The Supreme Court recently catalogued these categories and cautioned against adding new ones, including, in that case, depictions of animal cruelty. *United States v. Stevens*, 559 U.S. 460, 130 S.Ct. 1577, 1584, 176 L.Ed.2d 435 (2010).

¹⁰ Interestingly, even if Appellants had offered evidence that Respondents violated a specific criminal law, the conduct is not unlawful if that law conflicts with Respondents' First Amendment rights. *See, e.g., Texas v. Johnson*, 491 U.S. 397, 109 S. Ct. 2533, 105 L. Ed. 2d 342 (1989) (defendant's conviction for burning the flag in violation of Texas' flag desecration statute was properly reversed).

case, resulting in an improper shifting of the burdens.”¹¹ *Id.* See also *Navellier v. Sletten*, 29 Cal. 4th 82, 94-95, 124 Cal. Rptr. 2d 530 (2002) (declining to interpret preamble of California statute, which suggests its purpose is to promote the “valid” exercise of free speech, to apply only to “valid” speech); see *Paul for Council v. Hanyecz*, 85 Cal. App. 4th 1356, 1366, 102 Cal. Rptr. 2d 864 (2001), *rev’d on other grounds by Equilon Enters. v. Consumer Cause, Inc.*, 29 Cal. 4th 53, 124 Cal. Rptr. 2d 507, 52 P.3d 685 (2002).

Moreover, Appellants’ insistence they brought the lawsuit because Respondents failed to follow policies separate and apart from the Boycott completely misunderstands the anti-SLAPP statute’s scope.¹² A federal court rejected a similar argument in *Aronson v. Dog Eat Dog Films, Inc.* There, the plaintiff claimed the defendant’s free speech rights were “merely incidental” to the defendant’s alleged misconduct (unauthorized use of the plaintiff’s video). Judge Strombom disagreed, stating that the relevant inquiry is whether “the act underlying the plaintiff’s cause, or the act which forms the basis for the plaintiff’s cause of action” is “an act in

¹¹ Appellants’ reading also would violate the Legislature’s mandate that the law be construed liberally, and lead to absurd results, in violation of the basic principle that courts must “avoid readings of statutes that result in unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences.” *Glaubach v. Regence BlueShield*, 149 Wn.2d 827, 833-34, 74 P.3d 115 (2003).

¹² Their protestations of good faith are also completely beside the point because under the anti-SLAPP law, “plaintiff’s subjective motivations in bringing the suit are irrelevant.” *Tuchscher Dev. Enters, Inc. v. San Diego Unified Port Dist.*, 106 Cal. App. 4th 1219, 1234, 132 Cal. Rptr. 2d 57 (2003).

furtherance of the right of free speech.” 738 F.Supp.2d at 1111. Here, that act is the Boycott – an act that is afforded the highest degree of protection for free speech as “expressive conduct” in support of human rights.

Nor are Appellants’ assertions about the basis for their lawsuit credible. Appellants filed a lawsuit that sought to enjoin the Boycott, CP 16-17, and to hold *personally liable* 16 current and former Board Members, ordinary citizen-volunteers, many of whom by then had left the Board and were no longer in a position to make any corrections or follow different procedures, CP 7-8. They threatened these volunteers with a lawsuit that they promised would be “*complicated, burdensome and expensive*,” CP 303-05 (emphasis added). And they chose litigation without even trying to resolve the matter through a Co-op membership vote. CP 170-73. The Respondents’ First Amendment activity is not incidental to the parties’ dispute— it is at the heart of the dispute.

2. Appellants Failed to Show by Clear and Convincing Evidence a Probability of Prevailing on their Claims.

Because the Boycott qualified as speech protected by RCW 4.24.525, Appellants had to show by “clear and convincing evidence” a “probability” of prevailing on their claims for *ultra vires* and breach of fiduciary duty. RCW 4.24.525(4)(b); *see also Aronson*, 738 F. Supp. 2d at

1112. The trial court correctly found Appellants failed to do so.

Appellants primarily argue that the Board lacked authority to support the Boycott without the staff's consensus. They base their claim on the Boycott Policy (which allows staff-initiated boycott proposals if the idea enjoys unanimous staff support) by arguing that breaking the deadlock among staff members was *ultra vires* and violated the Board's fiduciary duties.

These theories fail under fundamental tenets of corporate governance. First, the Boycott Policy does not (and could not) contravene the Board's authority under the Co-op's Bylaws and Washington law to direct the Co-op's affairs. Second, the Board's vote, which broke the deadlock, did not violate the plain language of the Boycott Policy.

a. The Board Was Authorized to Break the Staff Deadlock.

Appellants claim the Board lacks authority to resolve staff deadlocks on a proposed boycott. Appellants' Br. at 10. This argument conflicts with the Bylaws and, if accepted, would grant the staff powers superior to those of the Board — indeed, it would empower a single staff opponent to immobilize the Board, in violation of well-established law.

Interpretation of bylaws and other documents governing a corporation are questions of law. *See Roats v. Blakely Island Maint.*

Comm'n, Inc., 169 Wn.App. 263, 273-74, 279 P.3d 943 (2012); *Langan v. Valicopters, Inc.*, 88 Wn.2d 855, 859, 567 P.2d 218 (1977) (bylaws); *Rodruck v. Sand Point Maint. Comm'n*, 48 Wn.2d 565, 578, 295 P.2d 714 (1956) (bylaws of a non-profit home-owners association).

Here, the Bylaws could not be clearer. They direct that “[t]he affairs of the cooperative shall be managed by a Board of Directors.” CP 57. They broadly authorize the Board to “*adopt major policy changes;*” “*adopt, review, and revise Co-operative plans;*” and “*resolve organizational conflicts* after all other avenues of resolution have been exhausted.” CP 58 (emphasis added). By contrast, the Bylaws delegate to the staff various operational functions such as: “keep[ing] the store functioning and open during regular hours;” “keep[ing] accounting records;” and “maintain[ing] all facilities in good repair and in sanitary and safe condition.” CP 57. Indeed, the staff must “carry out Board decisions...made in compliance with these bylaws.” CP 59. The 1993 Boycott Policy, in contrast, governs the procedure for *staff* to make boycott decisions. CP 106-07. Nothing in the Policy denies the Board the ability to resolve an impasse or to support a boycott, or to do either, if desired, without *any* staff input. *Id.*

This result is also consistent with past Co-op practice and the Board’s long history of acting on operational and merchandising matters.

CP 42-43. In some cases, the Board simply decided the matter without staff involvement; in others, it first referred the matter to the staff for research, analysis, feedback or initial decision. CP 78-83. Here, when a staff committee asked for Board intervention after more than a year of unsuccessful deliberation, the Board remanded the matter to the full staff. CP 44-45. When the staff again failed to reach consensus, it “resolved [an] organizational conflict[,],” “adopted [a] ... Cooperative plan[,],” “adopt[ed] major policy changes,” and “managed ... [t]he affairs of the cooperative” to break the deadlock. *Id.*, CP 57-58. The Boycott Policy does not abdicate to the staff these Board powers. The trial court did not err by so finding. RP 20-23.

Moreover, state law precludes granting a corporate staff power superior to that of the board of directors. Pursuant to the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act, “[t]he affairs of a corporation shall be managed by a board of directors.” RCW 24.03.095. A failure to manage would be an abdication and a breach of fiduciary duties; by definition, managing is not.

In short, Appellants may disagree with the Board’s decision to boycott Israeli goods, but their argument that it lacked authority wholly fails as a matter of law, as correctly held by the court below.

b. **To the extent Appellants Argue
Ultra Vires on Appeal, Their
Claim Fails.**

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